FILED Sep 12, 2016

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO. COA NO. 32762-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

IN RE DETENTION OF SCOTT HALVORSON SEP 2 3 2016 Washington State Supreme Court

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SCOTT HALVORSON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Harold D. Clarke, III, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 2
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
	 EXPERT TESTIMONY DIAGNOSING HALVORSON WITH A PERSONALITY DISORDER, ALCOHOL DEPENDENCE AND CANNABIS ABUSE WAS IRRELEVANT UNDER ER 401 AND INADMISSIBLE UNDER ER 403
	3. CUMULATIVE ERROR VIOLATED HALVORSON'S CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

Berschauer/Phillips Constr. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 881 P.2d 986 (1994)13
In re Detention. of Audett, 158 Wn.2d 712, 147 P.3d 982 (2006) 10, 13
<u>In re Detention of Froats,</u> 134 Wn. App. 420, 140 P.3d 622, 627 (2006), <u>review denied</u> , 60 Wn.2d 1022, 163 P.3d 795 (2007)
<u>In re Detention of Halgren,</u> 156 Wn.2d 795, 132 P.3d 714 (2006)
<u>In re Detention of Sease,</u> 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078, <u>review denied</u> , 166 Wn.2d 1029, 217 P.3d 337 (2009) 10, 13
<u>In re Detention of Thorell,</u> 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708, 720 (2003), <u>cert. denied,</u> 541 U.S. 990, 124 S. Ct. 2015, 158 L. Ed. 2d 496 (2004) 12, 15, 19
<u>In re Welfare of Hansen,</u> 24 Wn. App. 27, 599 P.2d 1304 (1979)15
Lamborn v. Phillips Pac. Chem. Co., 89 Wn.2d 701, 575 P.2d 215 (1978)
<u>State v. Coe,</u> 101 Wn.2d 772, 684 P.2d 668 (1984)20
<u>State v. Crowder,</u> 103 Wn. App. 20, 11 P.3d 828 (2000), <u>review denied</u> , 142 Wn.2d 1024, 21 P.3d 1150 (2001)18
<u>State v. Davenport,</u> 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

<u>State v. Fish,</u> 99 Wn. App. 86, 992 P.2d 505 (1999), <u>review denied</u> , 140 Wn.2d 1019, 5 P.3d 9 (2000)
<u>State v. Hudlow,</u> 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)16
<u>State v. Jones,</u> 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)16
<u>State v. Thang,</u> 145 Wn.2d 630, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002)15
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Foucha v. Louisiana</u> , 504 U.S. 71, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437 (1992) 15
<u>Parle v. Runnels,</u> 505 F.3d 922 (9th Cir. 2007)
<u>Washington v. Texas</u> , 388 U.S. 14, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Chapter 71.09 RCW2, 8
ER 401 1
ER 403 1, 7, 9
ER 412
ER 412(c)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

-

Page

OTHER AUTHORITIES

ER 803(a)(3).	
RAP 13.4(b)(3)	
RAP 13.4(b)(4)	
RCW 9A.44.020	
RCW 71.09.020(8)	
RCW 71.09.020(9)	
RCW 71.09.020(18)	
RCW 71.09.060(1)	
U.S. Const. amend. XIV	
Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3	

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Scott Halvorson asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Halvorson requests review of the decision in <u>In re Detention of</u> <u>Scott Halvorson</u>, Court of Appeals No. 32762-1-III (slip op. filed Aug. 11, 2016), attached as appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the State's expert did not rely on the personality disorder, alcohol dependence or cannabis abuse diagnoses as the mental abnormality that made Halvorson likely to reoffend and the trial court instructed the jury solely on mental abnormality as the basis to commit, whether the trial court erred in permitting the jury to consider evidence of these diagnoses because they were irrelevant under ER 401 and unduly prejudicial under ER 403?

2. Where the question of whether Halvorson currently suffered from a nonconsent paraphilia was a central issue at trial, did the court violate ER 412 and his constitutional right to present a complete defense in excluding evidence that an identified victim had previously consented to sexual asphyxiation, which supported the defense theory that she consented to sex with Halvorson?

- 1 -

3. Whether cumulative error violated Halvorson's constitutional due process right to a fair trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2012, the State filed a petition seeking Scott Halvorson's civil commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW, relying on Dr. Judd's evaluation that Halvorson met the definition of a sexually violent predator (SVP). CP 1-50. Before trial, Halvorson's counsel moved to exclude reference to Judd's diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse. CP 1216-20; RP¹ 231-32.

Counsel argued that Judd relied only on the paraphilia and pedophilia diagnoses in opining that Halvorson had a mental abnormality that made him likely to reoffend. CP 1219-20. Judd did not opine the antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse conditions predisposed Halvorson to commit acts of sexual violence, and did not rely on them for his opinion that Halvorson met the SVP definition. CP 1220. Counsel thus contended evidence of these diagnoses was irrelevant under ER 401 and would likely confuse and mislead the jury under ER 403. CP 1220. The trial court ruled the personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis

- 2 -

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: RP - seven consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 7/24/14, 8/18/14, 8/19/14, 8/20/14, 8/21/14, 8/25/14, 8/26/14, 8/27/14.

abuse diagnoses were "appropriate" and that the prejudice from the latter two diagnoses did not outweigh their relevance. RP 312-13.

Before trial, Halvorson's counsel also moved under ER 412 to admit evidence that an identified victim, D.S., was observed exchanging sex for money with another man at a bar called The Flame; and was observed requesting another man to cut off her air supply during sexual intercourse in 2006. RP 268-79, 294-97; CP 1622-49. The offer of proof for the latter piece of evidence came from deposition testimony provided by Ms. Anstine, who knew D.S. for many years. CP 1627-32. Anstine knew D.S. engaged in prostitution activities, including at The Flame. CP 1628-29. She observed D.S. engage in a particular act of prostitution at a hotel in which D.S. asked the customer to choke her. CP 1629-32.

Counsel argued D.S.'s prior act of consent to sexual asphyxiation was important to the defense because Dr. Judd relied on the assault/rape conviction involving D.S. as a basis to opine Halvorson currently suffered from paraphilia - nonconsent. CP 1644. The proffered evidence supported Halvorson's expected testimony that the sex between Halvorson and D.S. was consensual, which provided a basis to argue Halvorson had actually lived in the community for a decade without exhibiting signs or symptoms of the alleged mental abnormality. CP 1644-45. Further, independent evidence that D.S. had previously consented to sexual asphyxiation could be used to undermine Dr. Judd's opinion that Halvorson currently suffered from a dangerous mental abnormality. CP 1647-48.

The court admitted evidence that D.S. traded sex for money on a specific occasion, but excluded evidence of the prior consensual asphyxiation incident. RP 313-15. It described the event as "somewhat remote" and "kind of speculative." RP 314-15.

Dr. Judd, testifying for the State, informed the jury that Halvorsen suffered from paraphilia, NOS - nonconsent (other specified paraphilic disorder - rape), pedophilia, antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse. RP 653-55, 669-70, 673-74, 715-16, 729. Judd opined Halvorson has mental abnormalities in the form of paraphilia and pedophilia that make him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. RP 711, 747. Judd relied on a number of past events in reaching his opinion. RP 651, 655, 657-58, 660-61, 671-72, 714-16. Halvorson had sexual contact with his two younger sisters as a juvenile. RP 576, 579-82, 611-18. 26 years before the commitment trial, Halvorson pled guilty to indecent liberties against a girl based on a 1987 event. Ex. 2, 3. Halvorson also pled guilty to first degree rape against a girl based on an event that occurred pending sentencing on the indecent liberties conviction. Ex. 6, 29; RP 361, 366-67, 731-35, 781-82. Twenty years later, in 2008, a jury convicted Halvorson of third degree rape and

second degree assault against D.S., an adult female, based on an event that occurred in 2007. Ex. 11; RP 661, 734.

Halvorson gave his version of what happened with D.S. at the commitment trial. He testified he knew D.S. from previous encounters, including one at The Flame. RP 471-80, 484-86. On the night in question, D.S. agreed to have sex with Halvorson in exchange for \$40 to buy cocaine. RP 497. They had consensual sex. RP 499-500. During the course of that sexual encounter, D.S. asked him to choke her so that she could "get off." RP 500. Halvorson agreed and cut off her air supply while having sex with her. RP 500-01. Halvorson denied raping her but acknowledged causing petechial hemorrhages from choking. RP 470, 541.

While Dr. Judd opined Halvorson has mental abnormalities in the form of paraphilia and pedophilia that make him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence (RP 711, 747), Judd did not believe an antisocial personality disorder predisposes someone to engage in a sexually violent offense. RP 680, 746-47, 752-53. But the interaction between mental abnormality and the personality disorder increased the probability that someone is likely to reoffend insofar as the personality disorder implicates lack of remorse, empathy and concern about the impact on one's behavior on others. RP 680-81, 746-47. Judd used

- 5 -

clinical judgment to arrive at his opinion that Halvorson was at high risk to reoffend. RP 766-67, 822-23.

Dr. Donaldson, a psychologist testifying on behalf of Halvorson, opined there was insufficient evidence to conclude Halvorson currently suffered from a mental abnormality. RP 835, 842-43, 861. According to Donaldson, there is almost no science to support such a finding. RP 870. Paraphilia diagnoses have poor reliability. RP 845, 854-55. The paraphilia - non-consent diagnosis is not scientifically credible and was "basically contrived in order to somehow shoehorn rapists into a mental illness." RP 848-49. The pedophilia diagnosis, meanwhile, lacks empirical evidence to back it up. RP 846, 898. Halvorson had not shown symptoms of pedophilia for many years. RP 893. Antisocial personality disorder diagnoses also have poor reliability. RP 862. Donaldson further testified there was insufficient evidence to show Halvorson had serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior. RP 853. There is no way to accurately predict an individual's risk of sexual reoffense. RP 856, 859. The jury nonetheless found Halvorson met the SVP definition. CP 1418.

On appeal, Halvorson argued the trial court committed reversible error in admitting evidence of the antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses because they were irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 8-16. Halvorson further

- 6 -

argued the trial court violated his right to present a defense by excluding evidence that the latest identified victim, D.S., consented to being choked before while engaging in a sex act. BOA at 16-30. The Court of Appeals rejected these arguments and affirmed. Slip op. at 1, 9.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. EXPERT TESTIMONY DIAGNOSING HALVORSON WITH A PERSONALITY DISORDER, ALCOHOL DEPENDENCE AND CANNABIS ABUSE WAS IRRELEVANT UNDER ER 401 AND INADMISSIBLE UNDER ER 403.

Testimony about Halvorson's personality disorder. alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses were irrelevant because the jury was not instructed on personality disorder as means to commit Halvorson, and the other two diagnoses were not relied on by the State's expert as mental abnormalities. In light of the "to commit" instruction, such testimony was misleading and confusing under ER 403. The trial court thus erred in allowing the jury to consider expert testimony that Halvorson suffered from these mental conditions. The question of whether the basis of commitment is limited by how the jury is instructed is an issue of substantial public importance because it arises in any SVP case where the jury is instructed on only one alternative means as a basis to commit, to the exclusion of the other means. Further, whether the trier of fact can rely on mental conditions that do not qualify as mental abnormalities or personality disorders in deciding

- 7 -

whether someone meets the SVP definition is a recurring issue. For these reasons, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Chapter 71.09 RCW authorizes the commitment of those found to meet the SVP definition. RCW 71.09.060(1). An SVP is "any person who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). "Mental abnormality" and "personality disorder" are alternative means for making the SVP determination.² In re Detention of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). The "to commit" instruction required the State to prove Halvorson suffers from a mental abnormality makes him more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. CP 1397.

The "to commit" instruction impacts what evidence is relevant. It is fundamental that the jury must decide the case based on the law as

² "Mental abnormality" means "a congenital or acquired condition affecting the emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to the commission of criminal sexual acts in a degree constituting such person a menace to the health and safety of others." RCW 71.09.020(8). "Personality disorder" means "an enduring pattern of inner experience and behavior that deviates markedly from the expectations of the individual's culture, is pervasive and inflexible, has onset in adolescence or early adulthood, is stable over time and leads to distress or impairment." RCW 71.09.020(9).

embodied in the court's instructions. The jury was instructed on this point. CP 1392 ("You must apply the law from my instructions to the facts that you decide have been proved, and in this way decide the case."). Based on the way the jury was instructed, it could not consider the personality disorder as contributing to risk of reoffense. Evidence of Halvorson's personality disorder was irrelevant to the mental abnormality-focused question the jury had to answer in order to find Halvorson met the statutory criteria for commitment. It was therefore improper to allow Dr. Judd to testify that Halvorson suffered from a personality disorder and that this disorder contributed to his risk of reoffense.

The "to commit" instruction limited the State to the mental abnormality means of proving Halvorson met the commitment criteria, but Dr. Judd relied on the personality disorder to boost his risk assessment. RP 680-81, 746-47. Consistent with Dr. Judd's testimony, the State argued to the jury that the personality disorder folded into the risk of reoffense. RP 1068-69. But Judd's testimony was irrelevant because the jury was only authorized to consider whether a mental abnormality made Halvorson more likely than not to commit predatory acts of sexual violence, not whether the personality disorder did, even as a contributing factor. Testimony on the personality disorder was also inadmissible under ER 403 because it was presented to the jury as something to consider in reaching its verdict while the "to commit" instruction did not authorize the jury to consider evidence of a personality disorder in deciding whether the State had proven its case.

The Court of Appeals believed "[t]he State was entitled to draw upon Mr. Halvorson's general personality and history to place his mental abnormality in context and meet its burden to prove future risk of recidivism." Slip op. at 6 (citing <u>In re Detention. of Audett</u>, 158 Wn.2d 712, 147 P.3d 982 (2006) (State presented sufficient evidence when respondent's alcoholism combined with his pedophilia to create a risk of recidivism); <u>In re Detention of Sease</u>, 149 Wn. App. 66, 201 P.3d 1078, <u>review denied</u>, 166 Wn.2d 1029, 217 P.3d 337 (2009) (combination of a variety of risk factors relevant to proving risk of recidivism)).

But neither case cited by the Court of Appeals involved the situation where the "to commit" instruction was limited to one means of proving SVP status but the State relied on evidence of the other means. <u>Audett</u>, 158 Wn.2d at 727-28; <u>Sease</u>, 149 Wn. App. at 5, 78-80 (jury instructed only on personality disorder means, and expert only relied on personality disorder diagnosis to show risk of reoffense).³

³ <u>See</u> Brief of Appellant in <u>Sease</u> at 7 (confirming jury instructed only on personality disorder, not mental abnormality, as means to commit) (available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A02/366002%20 appellant.pdf); Brief of Respondent in <u>Sease</u> at 17 ("At Sease's request, the court eliminated the alternative means of a 'mental abnormality' as a basis for commitment from the jury instructions.") (available at

The Court of Appeals contradicts itself. On the one hand, it opines "The court's instructions protected Mr. Halvorson against the risk the jury would improperly convict him on the personality disorder prong of the SVP statute." Slip op. at 6. On the other hand, it maintains the jury was fully entitled to consider the personality disorder evidence as contributing to risk of reoffense. <u>Id.</u>

The Court of Appeals said "The State clarified in closing argument that Mr. Halvorson's mental abnormality was the basis for commitment but that the personality disorder folded into the risk assessment." <u>Id.</u> That itself is a contradiction. If the personality disorder folded into risk assessment, then it forms a basis for commitment, even though the "to commit" instruction only allowed the jury to consider a mental abnormality as that which makes him likely to reoffend. The State's closing argument exacerbated the prejudicial effect of Dr. Judd's objectionable testimony and ensured the jury would improperly consider it in determining whether Halvorson was likely to reoffend.

Further, it is undisputed that the alcohol dependence and cannabis abuse diagnoses proffered by Dr. Judd do not qualify as a mental abnormality or a personality disorder. Judd acknowledged these diagnoses did not factor into his risk assessment. RP 716-17. Yet the trial court

www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A02/366002%20respondent.pdf).

admitted this evidence over defense objection anyway. The jury was not supposed to be able to consider either mental condition as something that "makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility" because they did not qualify as a mental abnormality or personality disorder. RCW 71.09.020(18).

If mental conditions other than mental abnormalities and personality disorders could be considered in making the SVP determination, the separation between typical criminal recidivists and those worthy of being civilly committed collapses. That poses a constitutional problem. A diagnosis of a mental abnormality or personality disorder, "when coupled with evidence of prior sexually violent behavior and testimony from mental health experts, which links these to a serious lack of control, is sufficient for a jury to find that the person presents a serious risk of future sexual violence and therefore meets the requirements of an SVP." In re Detention of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 761-62, 72 P.3d 708 (2003), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 990, 124 S. Ct. 2015, 158 L. Ed. 2d 496 (2004). The fact finder is therefore required "to find a link between a mental abnormality and the likelihood of future acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." Thorell, 149 Wn.2d at 743. It is this link that distinguishes the typical criminal recidivist from those may be civilly committed consistent with due process.

- 12 -

<u>Id.</u> at 731-32; <u>In re Detention of Froats</u>, 134 Wn. App. 420, 430, 140 P.3d 622, 627 (2006), <u>review denied</u>, 60 Wn.2d 1022, 163 P.3d 795 (2007).

In Halvorson's case, the alcohol and cannabis diagnoses are not mental abnormalities or personality disorders, and the State's expert did not rely on them as contributing to risk of reoffense. Allowing the jury to consider these diagnoses as evidence that Halvorson met the SVP definition severs the constitutionally required link between mental illness and risk of sexually violent reoffense.

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