RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 14, 2016, 2:38 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93641-2

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Scott Halvorson:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SCOTT HALVORSON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KRISTIE BARHAM Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 32764 / OID No. 91094 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2004

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

3. Evidence Of Halvorson's Alcohol Dependence And Cannabis Abuse Is Relevant To His Offending Behavior

The trial court properly admitted testimony of Halvorson's Alcohol Dependence and Cannabis Abuse because the evidence indicated a relationship between his substance use and his sexual offending. Dr. Judd diagnosed Halvorson with Alcohol Dependence based on his extensive history of alcohol use, including during the offenses against C.O., E.M., D.H., and D.S. RP 467-70, 491-98, 715-16. Dr. Judd noted that Halvorson continued to use alcohol and drugs despite making statements over the years that he would never use again. RP 716.⁶

Prior to Dr. Judd's testimony, Halvorson testified in detail about his alcohol use during his offending. He testified that he was "obviously cognitively impaired" and "drunk" during the 1980 incident with C.O. RP 456-57, 463, 471. He testified that he was a "practicing alcoholic" and cognitively impaired during the 1987 incident with E.M. RP 368, 374-77. He testified that he was in an alcoholic blackout during the 1988 rape of D.H. and woke up with a knife and knew "something bad had happened[.]"

⁶ After raping D.H. in 1988, Halvorson said, "I have been so horrified by my latest act of sexual deviancy, I swear never to use any drugs ever again." RP 412-13.

RP 384-95, 410-11, 541. He also testified that he had been drinking and had "a pretty good buzz" prior to the 2007 rape of D.S. See RP 469-70, 491-98.

The Court of Appeals' decision indicates that the trial court "probably should have granted" Halvorson's motion to exclude the substance abuse testimony because "Dr. Judd did not find Mr. Halvorson's substance abuse relevant to the recidivism risk," but that this changed at trial because Halvorson testified about his substance abuse issues *prior* to Dr. Judd's testimony. *Halvorson*, 2016 WL 4259134 at *3. The court ruled that admission of Dr. Judd's testimony was not reversible error. *Id*.

First, as the Court of Appeals noted, Halvorson introduced evidence of his struggles with substance abuse prior to Dr. Judd's testimony. Halvorson blamed part of his "issues" on his alcohol and drug usage and testified that alcohol and drugs are "triggers without a doubt." RP 414-15. Halvorson's testimony made Dr. Judd's diagnostic testimony relevant to his offending. Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency" to make a fact of consequence to the action more or less probable. ER 401. All relevant evidence is admissible. ER 402.

Second, Dr. Judd did not explicitly testify that Halvorson's substance abuse was irrelevant to risk. Rather, Dr. Judd testified that Halvorson's substance abuse diagnoses are supported by the facts and do not have any particular relevance in assessing risk *beyond* the fact that there is a relationship

between his substance use and offending and it would need to be monitored and controlled in treatment. RP 716-17. Dr. Judd testified that alcohol can lower inhibitions in a person who has an interest in sexual acting out. RP 717. Thus, alcohol use *does* affect Halvorson's risk because he has been diagnosed with multiple paraphilias and alcohol lowers whatever control Halvorson might be able to muster. *See* RP 672-73, 747. The substance abuse testimony was relevant to Halvorson's offending behavior, which was a central issue at trial. The jury was entitled to consider this evidence in assessing Halvorson's offending behavior and overall risk. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the evidence.

4. The Jury Was Properly Instructed That Halvorson's Mental Abnormality Was The Only Basis For Commitment

The trial court properly instructed the jury that the State must prove Halvorson has a mental abnormality in order to commit him as an SVP. *See* RP 1011, CP 1397. The "to commit" instruction only referenced mental abnormality as a basis for commitment. *Id.* The jury was not instructed that it could commit Halvorson on the basis of a personality disorder. *Id.* As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, the "court's instructions protected Mr. Halvorson against the risk the jury would improperly [commit] him on the personality disorder prong of the SVP statute." *See Halvorson*, 2016 WL 4259134 at *2.

Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. State v. Imhoff, 78 Wn. App. 349, 351, 898 P.2d 852 (1995). Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363-64, 229 P.3d 669 (2010). Moreover, the State reiterated the proper basis for commitment in its closing argument and argued that it was Halvorson's mental abnormality that must serve as the basis for commitment. See RP 1027, 1063-69, 1077. The State also explained the limited relevance of the personality disorder as folding into Halvorson's risk. RP 1068-70. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, this was "consistent with Dr. Judd's testimony and the court's instructions" and "there is no basis for reversal." See Halvorson, 2016 WL 4259134 at *3.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found that the Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Excluding Hearsay Evidence of a Rape Victim's Alleged Prior Sexual Behavior with an Unknown Male at an Unknown Date

Halvorson argues that the trial court violated his due process right to present a complete defense by excluding evidence that his rape victim allegedly told a man on a previous occasion to choke her during sex. Petition at 14. He argues that this evidence was relevant to his theory that D.S. consented to being choked. *Id.* The Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding this speculative and irrelevant evidence. See Halvorson, 2016 WL 4259134 at *3. This Court should deny review because this is neither a significant question of constitutional law nor an issue of substantial public interest.

1. Evidence that the Rape Victim Allegedly Consented to Being Choked During a Prior Sexual Encounter Was Irrelevant and Inadmissible

Halvorson argues that ER 412(c) allows him to admit evidence that D.S. said "choke me" during a previous sexual encounter with an unknown male to support his argument that D.S. consented to being choked by him. *See* Petition at 16. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding this evidence as speculative, remote in time, and not relevant. *See* RP 314-15.

This Court has emphasized that evidence of consensual sex with others in the past, without more, does not meet the bare relevancy test of ER 401. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 10, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). In order for evidence of prior sexual conduct to be admissible on the issue of consent, Halvorson must show not only that it is relevant and its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of unfair prejudice, but also that its exclusion would result in denial of substantial justice to him. *Id.* at 7. Further, Halvorson must show a "particularized factual showing" of similarity between the prior consensual sexual act and the act he claims was consensual. *See id.* at 10-11.⁷

⁷ Halvorson relies on *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 723, 230 P.3d 576 (2010), for his claim that "distinctive sexual patterns showing consent are relevant." Petition at 16. *Jones* does not say this. Rather, *Jones* explains, "Evidence of past sexual conduct, such as

Halvorson fails to make a "particularized factual showing" of similarity between the alleged prior sexual act with an unknown male at an unknown date and his rape of D.S. *See Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d at 10-11. First and foremost, a jury already found beyond a reasonable doubt that Halvorson was guilty of assaulting and raping D.S. Ex. P-11, RP 470. The State was not required to prove that he choked or raped D.S. at the SVP trial as that was not the issue before the jury. Halvorson's mental condition and risk were the issues at trial.

Second, the circumstances of the rape of D.S. are nothing like the alleged hotel incident. Halvorson testified that he first met D.S. in 2005 after she ran up to him and asked for a ride after fleeing from two men. RP 471-72. He drove her home, where they smoked cigarettes and drank beer. RP 472-73. Several months later, he ran into her at a bar and they returned to her home where he gave her money to buy crack. RP 473-80. He next saw D.S. in August 2006 at her home where they smoked cigarettes and drank alcohol. RP 484-87. Halvorson next saw D.S. in April 2007, on the night of the rape. *See* RP 488-89. He testified that he had been drinking and went to her home in the middle of the night "hoping to have some sex." *See* RP 481-84, 489-94. He testified that D.S. agreed to have sex with him in exchange for \$40 to buy crack. RP 495-97. During "regular" intercourse, D.S. asked him to "softly choke" her because it

meeting men in bars before consenting to sex or other distinctive sexual patterns, *could be* relevant if it demonstrates 'enough similarity between the past consensual sexual activity and defendant's claim of consent." *Id.* (emphasis added).

"gets [her] off." RP 500. He agreed, but requested anal sex. RP 500-01. He claimed that during anal sex, he put his hand around her throat and started to "softly" cut off her air supply. RP 501. Her head started "bobbing up and down like she was losing consciousness" and she was making odd, gurgling noises. RP 501. He was uncomfortable, so they returned to "regular" intercourse and he ejaculated. RP 501-02, 535-36. When Halvorson left, he took back the \$40 he had given her. RP 503-05.⁸ D.S. suffered bruising and petechial hemorrhaging from the strangulation. *See* RP 541, 549-53, 734, 785.

The evidence Halvorson sought to introduce about the incident at the hotel with an unknown man at an unknown date is not factually similar to Halvorson's rape of D.S. Halvorson's witness would have testified that at some unknown date in the past, she went to a hotel with a man to engage in acts of prostitution and that the man's friend had "already started the party"⁹ with D.S. RP 288-89; CP 1836-39. She claimed she saw D.S. engage in oral sex and sexual intercourse with the man and heard D.S. say, "Choke me. Choke me." CP 1848-49. The trial court correctly found this evidence was speculative and too remote in time to be relevant.

⁸ Halvorson's claim that he and D.S. were acquaintances who had several encounters at D.S.'s home over the years is arguably not supported by the evidence in light of the fact that detectives had to identify him by fingerprints left at the rape scene. See RP 531, 546-47.

⁹ She said they partied, drank alcohol, smoked crack, got paid for sex, and left. CP 1837-41.

The offer of proof included no information about the identity of the man, the nature of his relationship with D.S., or how they ended up at a hotel together. It is completely speculative that the alleged statement was made because D.S. enjoyed being choked, as opposed to something the man either paid her to say or paid her to do. There was no offer of proof that D.S. ever said she enjoys being choked during sex. *See* CP 1769-1854. The witness merely claimed she heard D.S. utter the words "Choke me. Choke me." CP 1848-49. If D.S. was engaged in an act of prostitution as the witness claimed, it is unclear why the man would be doing what the prostitute found pleasurable as opposed to what he paid her to do.

Moreover, there is no indication that the man actually choked D.S., and there is no indication that D.S. had any injuries similar to those she suffered at the hands of Halvorson. *See* RP 470, 541, 548-53, 573, 734, 785-86; Ex. P-25, Ex. P-26. It was within the trial court's discretion to exclude this speculative and irrelevant testimony. *See State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 782-86, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), *overruled on other grounds by State v. W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) (trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding evidence of the rape victim's prior 1995 prostitution conviction because it was too remote in time and too different in character to be relevant to the 1998 rape).

Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the "choke me" testimony was also inadmissible hearsay. *See Halvorson*, 2016 WL 4259134 at

*3. Halvorson wanted to offer the "choke me" statement to prove the very thing that D.S. asserted -- that she liked being choked. This is the very definition of hearsay. *See* ER 801. "A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal if it is sustainable on alternative grounds." *Thomas v. French*, 99 Wn.2d 95, 103-04, 659 P.2d 1097 (1983). The Court of Appeals' further analysis is not "unprecedented" as Halvorson claims. *See* Petition at 19. The court did not inject an additional requirement that the declarant be available. Rather, the court merely mused that if the victim was still alive and able to respond to the allegation that she told a man to choke her, the analysis might be different with additional information beyond mere speculation.

2. Halvorson Does Not Have a Constitutional Right to Admit Irrelevant Evidence

Halvorson argues that the court violated his due process right to present a complete defense by excluding testimony that the rape victim consented to being choked during a prior sexual encounter. Petition at 14. Halvorson's claim lacks merit. First, Halvorson does not have a constitutional right to admit irrelevant evidence. Second, even if the evidence was relevant, the State had a compelling interest in excluding it. Finally, the court permitted Halvorson to testify in detail about his version of events, which included testimony that D.S. consented to being choked.

Although a defendant has the right to present a defense, that right is not absolute. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Defendants have a right to present only

relevant evidence. *Id., see also State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 624, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) ("There is no right, constitutional or otherwise, to have irrelevant evidence admitted."). Halvorson did not have a right to present the proffered testimony because it was not relevant. Even if the evidence was relevant, the State had a compelling interest in excluding evidence that would distract and inflame jurors that was of little to no probative worth. *See Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d at 16. Any constitutional right Halvorson may have had to present a "defense" was satisfied by the court allowing him to testify that the encounter was consensual and that D.S. asked him to choke her. *See Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d at 363.

Halvorson had ample opportunity to present his defense when he testified in detail about his version of events with D.S. and his claim that the entire encounter, including asphyxiation, was consensual. *See* RP 489-505, 534-36. Furthermore, the court admitted testimony from a witness who said she saw D.S. exchange money for sex with another man within a week of the incident between Halvorson and D.S. RP 314-15, 976-89. Thus, the jury heard evidence that corroborated Halvorson's claim of prostitution and consensual sex.

Even assuming arguendo that the trial court erred in excluding the testimony, the error was harmless. Evidentiary error warrants reversal only if it results in prejudice and there is a reasonable probability that the error materially affected the outcome of the trial. *In re Det. of West*, 171 Wn.2d 383, 410, 256 P.3d 302 (2011). First, the testimony was not relevant to any of the

elements the State had to prove at trial.¹⁰ Second, the rape and assault of D.S. was just one of many sexual assaults relied on by Dr. Judd in forming his opinions. *See e.g.*, RP 413-14, 653-72, 711, 730-34, 746-50, 776-86, 800. Finally, Dr. Judd testified that even if one accepts the premise that the encounter was consensual, the severity of D.S.'s injuries is "indicative of a behavior that got out of control" and suggests "more than just a playful sexual encounter." RP 784-86. Halvorson has not shown that exclusion of the evidence materially affected the outcome of the trial.

C. There was no Cumulative Error Warranting Reversal

The cumulative error doctrine does not apply where the errors are few and have little or no effect on the outcome of the trial. *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 279, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). Halvorson has failed to establish any error, let alone cumulative error justifying a new trial. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in making evidentiary rulings.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.